HO-797, Tutbury Gardeners Cottage
6450 Elibank Drive, Elkridge

ca. 1850

Private

CAPSULE SUMMARY

The Tutbury Gardeners Cottage, located at 6450 Elibank Drive in Lawyers Hill 1s
an eclectic example of architectural change over time. Originally constructed as a small
one room cottage with a loft above, the house has been added onto several times over the
years. Stylistically, the house is a mixture of Gothic Revival, Italianate, and Craftsman.
The frame structure is two stories high and five bays wide and rests on a variety of
foundations made of stone, brick and cinderblock. The house is now part of a working
horse farm and is surrounded by 16.7 acres. Two additional historic outbuildings are on
the property located immediately to the east of the Gardeners Cottage. Two large modern
horse barns are located slightly further to the east. The topography of the property is a
mixture of gradual and steep slopes. Several streams, large mature trees, and elaborate
flower gardens characterize the surrounding landscape.

The Tutbury Gardeners Cottage is significant under criteria C in the area of
architecture. The property derives its primary significance from its original association
with the Tutbury estate but is also significant in its own right as an example of Gothic
cottage architecture that has grown and evolved to meet the needs of each different
owner. The property is also a contributing property in the Lawyers Hill National Register
District which is significant not only for its architecture but also for its large lots and

natural landscape.
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1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name)
historic Tutbury Gardeners Cottage
other
2. Location
street and number 6450 Elibank Drive not for publication
city, town Elkridge vicinity
county Howard
3. Owner of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)
name Joyce Glover and Dermid McDonald
street and number 6450 Elibank Drive telephone
city, town Elkridge state MD zip code 21075

4. Location of Legal Description

. courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Howard County Courthouse

city, town Ellicott City

tax map and parcel: Map 32, P 8

liber 1170 folio 112

5. Primary Location of Additional Data

X Contributing Resource in National Register District
Contributing Resource in Local Historic District

Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register

Recorded by HABS/HAER
Historic Structure Report or Research Report
Other

6. Classification

Category Ownership Current Function
district public X agriculture
X building(s) X private EOTmerce!trade
structure both _ Geniine
: X domestic
site )
: education
object
funerary
government
health care

. industry

landscape
recreation/culture
religion

social
transportation
work in progress
unknown
vacant/not in use
other:

Resource Count
Contributing Noncontributing

3 2 buildings
sites
structures
objects

3 2 Total

Number of Contributing Resources
previously listed in the Inventory

0




7. Description Inventory No.  HO-797

Condition

excellent deteriorated
X good _ ruins

fair ) altered

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it
exists today.

The Tutbury Gardeners Cottage, located at 6450 Elibank Drive in Lawyers Hill is an eclectic example of architectural change over
time. Originally constructed as a small one room cottage with a loft above, the house has been added onto several times over the
years. Stylistically, the house is a mixture of Gothic Revival, Italianate, and Craftsman. The frame structure is two stories high and
five bays wide and rests on a variety of foundations made of stone, brick and cinderblock. The house is now part of a working
horse farm and is surrounded by 16.7 acres. Two additional historic outbuildings are on the property located immediately to the
east of the Gardeners Cottage. Two large modern horse barns are located slightly further to the east. The topography of the
property is a mixture of gradual and steep slopes. Several streams, large mature trees, and elaborate flower gardens characterize
the surrounding landscape.

In its earliest incarnation, the Tutbury Gardeners Cottage was a one-story frame structure on a stone or brick foundation with a
steeply pitched cross gabled roof over a useable loft space. A full width porch spanned the west fagade. A small, decorative
cupola perches atop the center of the cross gables. Two diamond-paned casement windows occupy the first story of the east fagade
and originally framed a chimney that served a fireplace centered on that wall. The fireplace has been closed for many years and
the chimney dismantled (1). The north and south facades are identical with a 6/6 window centered on the first story and another
6/6 window in the gable above. The west fagade would have held the porch and the front door. Presently, the entire house,
including the original section, is covered with cedar shingles. According to the owner, there is wooden German siding underneath
the shingles on the original portion of the structure. The roof on the original portion of the house is wood shingle. The foundation
is brick.

Sometime relatively early on, the front porch was enclosed and a two-story frame addition was added to the western end of the
original structure. The addition consisted of one large room on the first floor along with a new entry and stair and a stair foyer and
room on the second story. With this addition the front of the house became the south instead of the west fagade. The front door
was added to the area that had been the porch so that it was in between the two rooms of the first floor. To the left of the door, in
the new addition, are two 6/6 windows on the first story. The second story of the addition has one central cross gable with a
replacement vinyl window. The front door is flanked by two-light sidelights over molded panels. Matching molded panels also
decorate the front door. The cornice features decorative exposed rafter tails and the open rake of the gable is supported by large
triangular knee braces. A brick chimney is located on what was the western wall of the first addition and is now the interior
dividing wall between the first and second additions. The rear (north) fagade of this first addition is partially covered by the most
recent addition (a one-story laundry room) but the visible bay contains two vertically aligned 6/6 windows, one on each story. The
second story window has a small cross gable over it. A large dormer window was added on the rear slope of the roof connecting
the original section with the addition. This window is in the stairwell and was probably a twentieth century alteration since the
large 12/12 window is completely out of scale with the windows found in the rest of the house. The roof over the addition is side
gabled. The connection between the original house and the addition was made by extending the western gable of the original house
to meet the wall of the new addition. This extension has wood shingles like the roof on the original house but the side gabled roof
of the first addition is covered with asphalt shingles. Like the rest of the house, the walls of this section are covered with cedar
shingles. Unlike the original section of the house, this portion rests on a stone foundation.

The second major addition, made on the west fagade of the first addition, is also a frame structure two stories high with one room
on each floor. The foundation of this addition is cinder block. This section of the house has one 6/6 window on each story,
vertically aligned, on the front (south) fagade and the entire rear fagade is covered by the later kitchen addition. The west fagade of
this addition, which is also the west fagade of the entire house, has one 6/6 window on the second story and a pair of French doors
on the first story. The French doors lead onto a single story wrap around porch that spans the front of the house from the front
door all the way across both of the additions and wraps around the west side of the house. The porch columns are plain square
wood posts with scroll bracket detail at the tops. The balustrade has square balusters. The portion that wraps around the west side
of the house has been enclosed with jalousie windows.
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Another addition, this one only one story and with a shed roof, was added to the north fagade of the second addition. This room |
accommodates a kitchen on the first floor and a small extension of the bedroom on the second floor. The north fagade of this |
addition has a 6/6 gabled dormer providing light to the second story and a 6/6 window on the first story. The west fagade of this |
addition features one 6/6 window on the first story. The east fagade of this addition is covered by the final addition to the house — |
a small, one story shed roofed laundry room. The laundry room has vinyl windows and a modern steel faux-paneled door. Both

the laundry room and kitchen additions have cinder block foundations and asphalt shingle roofs. The exterior walls are clad in

cedar shingles like the rest of the house.

The interior of the house is in good condition but has been modified pretty extensively over the years. The original portion of the
house features very plain door and window trim with no decoration. The floor on the first story is carpeted. The existing door
between the original section and the first addition is a four panel wood door. The existing lock is a replacement and the hinges
have pins rather than being cast so there is no evidence that this is an original door. A very small bathroom was added in the
northwest corner of this room. According to the current owner, when she was removing wallpaper and repairing the eastern wall of
the room, it was obvious that there had been a fireplace there at one time. This evidence is no longer visible and there is no
chimney on the exterior. The room on the second story has sloping walls and exposed beams from the steep cross gabled roof. It
. has a wood floor but the boards are substantially narrower than those in the first addition and may have been replaced at one time.

The first addition, consisting of the enclosed porch and one room on each floor, has also been heavily redone on the inside. The
space that occupies the enclosed porch contains a stacked stairwell leading to the second floor and the basement and an entry foyer
but no wall separates the enclosed porch space from the additional room. The walls on the first floor have been paneled and the
fireplace has been reworked. The fireplace surround is currently all brick with a scalloped wood mantle shelf. When the second
major addition was made, the back of the fireplace was opened up so that it became a double-sided fireplace and the front may
have been reworked at that time. On the second floor, what was originally a bedroom has been converted into a hall with several
closets and a bathroom that leads to the bedroom in the second addition.

The first addition is the only portion of the house to have a basement. Stairs to the basement are stacked below the stair to the
second floor and are concealed by a sliding bookcase. The basement has a cement floor and is filled with mechanical equipment.
The joists visible overhead in the basement are sash sawn indicating that this addition occurred fairly early. By the 1850’s, the
transition to the circular saw for lumber production was fairly widespread and the use of sash sawn lumber dropped off
considerably. It was still used occasionally, however, up until around 1870. It is also possible to see some of the framing of the
original structure from this basement. It is apparent from the framing of the joists that the original structure had a porch that was
enclosed and converted to living space at the same time that the first addition was made. The joists of this former porch are also
sash sawn. Under the second addition, to the west of the first addition, there is only a crawl space and visible joists are circular
Sawm.

The second major addition consisted of two more rooms, one on each floor, added to the west side of the first addition. The
interiors of both of these rooms have been heavily redone. The first floor room has a doorway that leads into the rear kitchen
addition and a doorway leading onto the side porch which is enclosed with jalousie windows. The interiors of what is now the
kitchen and the laundry room on the back of the house have also been extensively redone in recent years.

Two more historic outbuildings are located immediately to the east of the cottage. The one closest to the cottage is now an
apartment and office but was a large garage in the early 20th century. The one story frame building has a front gabled roof covered

. with asphalt shingles. It rests on a stone foundation and has ample loft space in the attic. The entire east fagade used to be taken
up by four garage doors and has since been redone with siding and aluminum windows. The south fagade of the building is now
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the primary fagade and it contains two windows and a door on the first story and a window in the gable. The door is Craftsman era
and all of the windows are 6/6 wood. The entire building is covered with wooden German siding; the siding on the north, south,
and west facades is original while the siding on the east dates to the renovation of the building into living space. Two 6/6 windows
are found on the west fagade. On the north fagade, there is a door on the first story and an exterior stair leading to a door in the
gable accessing what is now an office. The building has open eaves with exposed rafter tails. The interior of the building was not
examined. The building was probably originally constructed as a garage in the early 20th century.

A large gabled roof barn is located just to the east of the garage. The large frame barn rests on a stone foundation and has board
and batten siding. Large double doors are located on the east and west facades. Two 6 by 6 sliding windows are located on the
south fagade along with a door. Vents are located in the north and south gables. A one story shed roofed addition was made to the
north end of the building. The interior has been heavily altered many times and it is unclear what the original partitioning may
have been. Most of the visible framing members are circular sawn. Some pegged mortise and tenon joints are visible but the
craftsmanship looks pretty late. The common rafter roof has the rafters mitered and nailed at the ridge. The only nails visible at
eye level are wire nails.

Other notable landscape features include a brick path that runs around the north, east and south sides of the original portion of the
cottage through mature and elaborate flower beds and a capped well located behind the original cottage in one of the flower beds.
It isn’t known when the path dates to but the current owner believes it has been there for at least the last 50 years. It is also worth
noting that according to the current owner, north of the cottage, down the hill by the creek there used to be an ice pond and small
ice house where residents would go to cut ice for cooling their perishable foods. The small ice house is no longer standing and the
area is now in horse pasture.

(1) Personal communication with the current owner, Joyce McDonald, who claims that when she was redoing that wall on the
inside of the house she saw evidence of the fireplace and hearth.




8. Significance Inventory No.  HO-797

. Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below
1600-1699 ~agriculture economics __ health/medicine performing arts
1700-1799 archeology _ education _ industry philospohy
X 1800-1899 X architecture engineering invention _ politics/government
1900-1999 ~art — entertainment/ ___ landscape architecture religion
___ 2000- _ commerce recreation —_ law science
__ communications ethnic heritage literature social history
_ community planning exploration/ _ maritime industry transportation
conservation settlement — military _ other:
Specific dates ca. 1850 Architect/Builder  unknown

Construction dates ca. 1850

Evaluation for:

National Register _ Maryland Register X not evaluated

Pr_epara a one-_paragraph summér;r statement of signiﬁi:a;mce addressing ap_plicabie criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of
the history of the resource and its context. (For compliance reports, complete evaluation on a DOE Form - see manual.)

The Tutbury Gardeners Cottage is significant under criteria C in the area of architecture. The property derives its primary
significance from its original association with the Tutbury estate but is also significant in its own right as an example of Gothic
cottage architecture that has grown and evolved to meet the needs of each different owner. The property is also a contributing
property in the Lawyers Hill National Register District which is significant not only for its architecture but also for its large lots and
natural landscape.

The Gardeners Cottage was probably built at the same time as or shortly after the construction of the Tutbury mansion and was
clearly built as a service building in the farm complex. Tutbury mansion has not been resurveyed but the 1970’s inventory form
dates the house to the late 1840’s based primarily on deed evidence (1). The Gothic style of both the main house and the Gardeners
Cottage were the height of popularity among the elite at that time. The Tutbury estate was probably constructed by either James
Rowles who owned the 141 acres on which it sat from 1846 to 1850, or Charles White who purchased 123 acres from Rowles in
1850 and owned the property until 1855 when he sold three parcels to William Jackson for $12000 (2). The Gardeners Cottage
seems to have been a dependency for the mansion house until well into the mid-20th century. It was split off briefly in the early
1940’s when George Forbes, the owner of the entire Tutbury estate at that point, died and left most of the estate to his wife but left
4.3 acres including several buildings to his brother for his residence (3). It seems very likely that the buildings included were the
Gardeners Cottage, garage, and barn now standing. Harris Lightfoot Forbes soon sold the property to the Culbertsons who had
purchased the rest of the Tutbury estate from Garetta Forbes (4). In 1966, the Culbertsons sold 16.7 acres, including the Gardeners
Cottage and outbuildings to the Rettgers and from then on the two properties were distinct parcels (5). The additions to the
Gardeners Cottage were made over time as the cottage gradually became a more substantial, permanent residence. The first
addition and porch enclosure probably occurred around 1870, the second addition around 1930, the kitchen addition around 1950
and the laundry room addition within the last 30 years.

The Tutbury estate shows up on both the 1860 Martenet map of Howard County and the 1878 map of Howard County as the
property of William Jackson. A lane used to run east from the Gardeners Cottage and barn to the main house. Unfortunately,
Tutbury mansion now sits on only 3.7 acres and the land in between the mansion and the cottage has been subdivided and
developed with modern houses. Even as late as 1957, however, when the most recent USGS Topographic Map was made, the lane
connecting the Gardeners Cottage and outbuilding complex to the mansion house was visible.

Very few outbuildings associated with the Lawyers Hill properties remain, due in large part to the construction of I-95 through the
middle of the neighborhood, and even in its altered state, the Tutbury Gardeners Cottage is significant as one of the last remaining
original outbuildings still in its original location. Unfortunately, a planned housing development will soon replace the cottage and
its surrounding landscape and damage the integrity of the Lawyers Hill National Register District.
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(1) Howard County Land Records Liber 8, Folio 143 and Liber 10, Folio 161.

(2) Ibid., and Liber 16, Folio 322.

(3) Will of George Forbes, Wills Liber 9, Folio 10.

(4) Howard County Land Records Liber 182, Folio 443 and Liber 185, Folio 280.
(5) Howard County Land Records Liber 461, Folio 282.




9. Major Bibliographical References Inventory No. HO-797

See continuation sheet.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of surveyed property 16.7
Acreage of historical setting approx__SO_
Quadrangle name Relay Quadrangle scale 1:24000

Verbal boundary description and justification

Cottage is now a separate parcel from the mansion house and the land in between the two has been subdivided. Cottage is on Tax
Map 32, Parcel 8.

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitle Kristin H. Hill, Historic Sites Surveyor

organization Howard County Department of Planning and Zoning date /16/03
. street and number 3430 Courthouse Drive telephone  410-313-4335

city or town Ellicott City state MD zip code 21043

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties was officially created by an Act of the Maryland
Legislature to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA, 1974
supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
DHCD/DHCP
100 Community Place
Crownsville MD 21032
410-514-7600
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Hopkins, G.M. ATLAS OF FIFTEEN MILES AROUND BALTIMORE INCLUDING HOWARD COUNTY MARYLAND.
Philadelphia, 1878.

Martenet, Simon. MARTENET’S MAP OF HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND. Baltimore, 1860.
Howard County Land Records, Howard County Courthouse, Ellicott City.

Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties Form, HO-452, Tutbury. On file at the Howard County Department of Planning and
Zoning.
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